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INTRODUCTION


Everyone who has read about the Spanish Armada knows that the English fleet defeated it in battle at Gravelines on 8 August 1588. It withdrew northwards, but was still reasonably intact as it sailed between Orkney and Fair Isle, and could hope to return safely to Spain. In order to bring into perspective the magnitude of the disaster that a large part of the Armada then suffered it is essential to learn what happened to it in Ireland. Enemy action is hardly involved. The Armada was instead enveloped by a spider’s web of misfortune, in which many complex elements were interwoven. It is the purpose of this book to try to untangle the causes and reveal the many individual incidents that brought catastrophe to the pride of Spanish arms on Ireland’s unknown coasts.


More than thirty years have passed since the last general history of the Armada in Ireland appeared. Niall Fallon’s book The Armada in Ireland was a courageous attempt to collate what is essentially a number of disconnected episodes in many separate locations on the Irish coast. His work is a first-rate compilation of the research material available at that time. Since then new information and revised interpretations have emerged and there is an obvious need to bring the history up to date.


Presentation has always been a problem. There is an inherent lack of unity in so many separate incidents, with the result that they tend to combine to give a confusing picture. It then occurred to me, perhaps belatedly, that the different episodes are unified by time. If they could be presented in the form of a chronicle the general reader might then be able to follow the sequence of events more coherently. Dates are available in the State Papers so it seemed to be a feasible idea. To realize it I have worked directly from original sources and have relied very little on the work of other authors. A by-product of putting things in date order has been to enable interpretations to emerge that were not formerly obvious. For example, on discovering that the date six ships left the Shannon Estuary was the day before three ships appeared in Blasket Sound, it became apparent that these were three of the same six ships.


My aim has been to write in a straightforward, easily accessible way in the hope that the general reader, not necessarily well versed in history, can derive enjoyment from it. I am not a professional historian and so I have tried to avoid the appearance of scholarship I do not possess, while at the same time not compromising on the quality of the historical content. With this in mind there are no distracting footnotes or numbered references. Notes and sources are given at the end of each chapter, and I hope there is enough information there to enable anyone interested to trace my sources. Precedent for this method of authentication exists in the example set by one of the greatest of all Armada historians, Garrett Mattingly, in his inspiring 1959 work The Defeat of the Spanish Armada.


There is a great deal of available data relevant to the Armada in Ireland that does not fit into a chronicle format, and I have therefore divided the text into four parts. In part one the action takes place in the North Sea and the Atlantic Ocean as the Spanish decide how they are going to get home and the problems they face trying to accomplish this. Part two is the chronicle of the arrival of Spanish ships in Ireland and their fate. Part three pays tribute to the hugely important role played by divers in the 1960s and 1970s. By producing tangible evidence of the Armada they stimulated widespread popular interest in a subject that had previously been the preserve of scholars. Part four consists of four Appendices giving peripheral information that adds to our understanding. Firstly, a definitive list of ships and men lost in Ireland is necessary. Then follows Captain Cuéllar’s account of his journey through Connaught and Ulster. This makes an important contribution to the history of Ireland as well as Armada history. It is disproportionately long, but it is there and cannot be ignored. Aramburu’s diary provides a detailed record of the track of the Armada in the Atlantic, which helps to explain why so many ships contacted Ireland when they were specifically ordered to avoid it. Although referred to frequently by historians this is the first time it has been printed in full. And a brief review of Irish History tries to explain the complex combination of population groups that had evolved in Ireland up to the sixteenth century.




PART I


The Armada Sets Course for Disaster




Chapter 1  [image: image]


12 TO 21 AUGUST 1588


WHERE WILL THEY GO?


The Spanish Army bare away with all the sails they were able to make.


(SEYMOUR, WYNTER AND PALMER)


THE ARMADA, HOMEWARD-BOUND


On 18 August 1588 a bark of Southampton was fishing about 36 miles southeast of Sumburgh Head, Shetland, when the crew sighted the Spanish Armada approaching from over the horizon to the south. As they watched,


… they descried a very great fleet of monstrous great ships, to their seeming being about 100 in number, lying just west, with both sheets aftward, whereby their course was to run betwixt Orkney and Fair Isle, Shetland lying North and by East of Orkney 21 leagues …


‘Lying just west with both sheets aftward’ meant sailing westwards with a following wind from the east or northeast.


There is a similar statement in Spanish sources based on the report of Scottish fishermen. It confirms that the Armada passed between Orkney and Shetland. It was estimated that there were 120 ships in the fleet. Apparently the Spanish took all the fishermen’s dried fish and paid well for it. They also took some ‘shipmasters and pilots’, though qualified pilots are unlikely to have been out earning their living fishing. Likely it meant men familiar with local waters around the Northern Isles.


The Southampton crew stopped fishing and, after the Armada had passed, the bark headed south. The only method they had of reporting the news was to deliver it in person. It was important because it confirmed that the Armada was returning to Spain by sailing round Scotland. But the Southampton fishermen were delayed by winds from the south. It took them seven days to reach the Moray Firth, and it was 1 September before their report arrived in London.


The intervening news blackout aroused anxiety in the English fleet. They had tracked the Armada up the east coast, but on 12 August broke off around Tyneside and returned to station off the North Foreland. ‘About noon we headed west to recover our coast, the enemy going NW and by N as they did before’. Two pinnaces were sent to follow the Armada, but no news had come back from them as yet.


What was the Armada going to do? Technically it was still a threat. Out of the original complement of 130 vessels it had lost only six great ships and a few pataches had been sent off on communications duties, so there were roughly 120 ships left with the best part of 30,000 men on board. They were a menace and could not be taken lightly. Although all the ships had battle damage, the Armada was capable of being repaired, and could possibly return to the Channel to continue the fight.


The English captains were not slow to speculate and offer their opinions:


The only thing that is to be looked for is that if they should go to the King of Denmark, he is a prince of great shipping and can best supply their wants which now the Duke of Medina Sidonia standeth in need as great anchors, cables, masts, ropes and victuals. What the King of Spain’s hot crowns will do in cold countries for mariners and men you can best judge thereof.


(FRANCIS DRAKE in the Revenge)


… they have no place to go withal but for the Scaw in Denmark … I verily believe they will pass about Scotland and Ireland to draw themselves home.


(THOMAS FENNER in the Nonpareil)


… in my conscience, I speak it to your Honour, I think the Duke would give his dukedom to be in Spain again.


(WILLIAM WYNTER in the Vanguard)


There was some alarm on 26 August when Henry Seymour received a report that the Armada was in the Moray Firth. No one seemed to be sure whether the Firth was big enough to hold the ships. But they were just passing through.


The Southampton fishermen established beyond doubt that the Armada was on its way home, but the news had been 14 fractious days in coming. The immediate danger had passed, and there was a practical understanding that the ships should get home safely from there. There was hardly the remotest suspicion that Ireland might become involved.


All the English captains used tremendously vivid language in their letters, not only Howard, Drake and Hawkins, but also Wynter, Seymour, Frobisher, Fenner, Palmer and others. Often they wrote several letters every day. They all exhibit an underlying energy that communicates vitality even over the centuries. They had the same controlled aggression in battle; if not always attacking the enemy, then at least they were threatening them. They were always at them, showing relish for the fight. They had attitude. They were all characters.


Howard, the Lord Admiral, summed up the English spirit when he wrote:


… notwithstanding that our powder and shot were well near spent we set a brag countenance and gave them chase.


When old seadogs routinely illuminated their letters with such lively imagery it is not surprising that the same generation produced William Shakespeare.


Martin Frobisher, a Yorkshireman, had no time for Drake’s antics in taking the Rosario at night when the rest were laid to. ‘He thinketh to cozen us of our shares of fifteen thousand ducats, but we will have our shares … He hath used certain speeches of me which I will make him eat again or I will make him spend the best blood in his belly’. If their internal rivalries were capable of generating so much heat, the enemy had better look out.


When it came to the serious fighting off Gravelines it was this confidence in their superiority that defeated the Armada. The English naval guns of the time were not capable of sinking large wooden ships. They battered them, destroying masts and rigging, and hitting hulls hard enough to cause leaks. But the English were disappointed with their results: they expected to sink Spanish ships or at least smash them to pieces. In October an English master gunner, William Thomas, wrote a lengthy report to Burghley in which he lamented:


What can be said but our sins was the cause that so much powder and shot spent, and so long time in fight, and in comparison thereof so little harm?


Although only six great ships were lost, English gunners had done enough to convince the Spanish that they could not win here. Medina Sidonia’s letter to King Philip on 21 August seems so abject in the way it accepted defeat:


This Armada was so completely crippled and scattered that my first duty to your Majesty seemed to save it, even at the risk we are running in undertaking this voyage, which is so long and in such high latitudes … experience has shown how little we could depend on the ships that remain, the Queen’s fleet being so superior to ours in this sort of fighting, in consequence of the strength of their artillery and the fast sailing of their ships.


‘Brag countenance’ was their secret weapon.


ON BOARD THE SPANISH FLEET


On Friday 12 August at 2 o’clock in the afternoon, the Spanish watched the pursuing English fleet slacken sail and put about. They were at 55°N, just north of Newcastle, but apparently over the Dogger Bank because they were drawing only nine fathoms. The Armada faced a quandary about what to do next, a quandary that exercised the English captains at the same time.


The leading generals and admirals were summoned to a council headed by the Duke of Medina Sidonia on his flagship the San Martin. Most senior were Don Alonso de Leyva and Juan Martinez de Recalde, but there were also Miguel de Oquendo, Don Diego Flores de Valdés, Don Francisco de Bobadilla, Martin de Bertondona and, very wisely, several pilots and seamen. Bobadilla had been Medina Sidonia’s consultant tactician throughout the voyage. There was some farcical posturing from Oquendo who declared that he was going to return to the battle and ‘fight and die like a man’. Diego Flores de Valdés thought that it might be possible to return to Calais. But presumably the sensible advice came from the pilots. It was resolved that the Armada should set its course for Spain even though they were all made aware it would be a laborious journey and would take them round Scotland and Ireland, ‘750 leagues through stormy seas almost unknown to us’. It seems the Spanish pilots were already prepared to experience navigation difficulties in unfamiliar waters.


Next day, 13 August, it was recorded that Medina Sidonia offered 2,000 ducats to a French pilot if he would guide them to a Spanish port. Later that same day he issued his sailing orders for the voyage ahead. It is almost certain that these were based on advice from this French pilot since, as it had already been acknowledged in the Spanish fleet, these waters were almost unknown to them. No one else would have had the experience to prescribe such detailed directions as to courses and latitudes, certainly not the Duke himself. The orders were copied to every ship in the fleet, and one of these copies was recovered in Ireland in the possession of one of the men taken prisoner, most likely Don Luis de Cordoba. It read:


The course that is first to be held is to the north-northeast, until you be found under 61 degrees and a half; and then to take great heed lest you fall upon the Island of Ireland for fear of the harm that may happen unto you upon that coast. Then parting from those islands and doubling the Cape in 61 degrees and a half you shall run west-southwest until you be found under 58 degrees; and from thence to the southwest to the height of 53 degrees; and then to the south-southwest (sic), making to the Cape Finisterre, and so to procure your entrance into the Groin or to Ferol, or to any other port of the coast of Galicia.


This would have been translated from the Spanish in Ireland (or as they said then ‘Englished’) and later transcribed by various secretaries. It appears to have been taken in Galway where David Gwyn was acting as an interpreter. Not only was he an unreliable translator, he was also a bombastic showman and was soon in serious trouble when he purveyed scurrilous accusations against Francis Walsyngham. His involvement is a pity, because the published version of this important document in the Irish State Papers contains at least one glaring mistake—the final sailing direction obviously should have been ‘south-southeast’, not ‘south-southwest’. The similarity between ‘este’ and ‘oeste’ perhaps makes it understandable, but it should surely have been corrected at an early stage. References to Ireland leave an impression that the French pilot did not really know where Ireland was, or he would not have been warning the ships to ‘take great heed’ of it when they were at 61° 30’N, bearing in mind that Malin Head, the most northerly point in Ireland, is at 55° 23’N. The advice was clear enough however: Ireland was to be avoided.


On Thursday 18 August when the Armada ships cleared the Scottish mainland they found they had an unusually favourable wind from the northeast. It was therefore a perfectly sensible decision to take advantage of it and make their way through the Fair Isle Channel out into the Atlantic. Fair Isle is at 59º 30’n, well south of the ‘61 degrees and a half’ directed by the sailing instructions issued only five days previously. It was, nevertheless, an important accomplishment to have turned the whole Armada westwards into the Atlantic without mishap.


This took three days, and it was on Sunday 21 August that Medina Sidonia felt relieved enough to write to King Philip and send him what he thought was good news:


We have therefore run through the Norwegian Channel and between the Scottish islands, and I am at present in this place, whence I have set my course for La Coruña so as to make the voyage as short as possible.


He seems to be saying that he consciously disregarded his own orders to go to 61° 30’N in order to take advantage of a favourable wind and in the interests of curtailing the voyage, which was fair enough.


Some of the men, however, thought they had indeed been as far north as 61°30’N, and gave estimates of their later positions that were wildly inaccurate. Others cannot have failed to notice that the sailing orders were first breached by the Duke himself.


These sailing instructions have acquired a disproportionate importance in some Armada histories. For most of the twentieth century it was axiomatic that the Armada followed the course laid down for it, even to the extent in many cases of showing it going round the north of Shetland. Virtually every historian accepted and used the map of the course drawn by W. Spotswood Green in 1906, and presumed it to be correct. It seemed they could not contemplate anything other than that Medina Sidonia’s directions would be obeyed to the letter. Unfortunately the map makes a bad start by getting the first part of the course wrong, and then goes on to a position in the Atlantic that fails to explain why so many Armada ships came in contact with Ireland. It will become apparent that these sailing instructions were less sacrosanct to the Spanish captains, who were aware that they were only the recommendations of a Frenchman.


The truth is that, other than for a few miles in the North Sea, the Armada never followed the course in the sailing instructions—neither the main fleet nor those ships that were separated from it. The instructions are interesting, especially as they emphasize the order to avoid Ireland, but they have proved to be a prodigious red herring for Armada historians. How tempting to find the actual route of the Armada! What a gift! Unfortunately it just did not happen that way. But there are some clues to the actual course followed and, if assembled systematically, they can lead to a more realistic interpretation of the Armada voyage. These clues are examined in detail in the next chapter.


THE SPANISH LEADERSHIP


There have been some eccentric choices for military command throughout the course of history, but the appointment of the Duke of Medina Sidonia to lead the Spanish Armada must stand out as one of the strangest.


Don Alonso Perez de Guzman El Bueno was the 7th Duke of Medina Sidonia. The family estates were (and still are) at Sanlúcar de Barrameda in Andalusía on the south bank of the Guadalquivir where it widens into a sea estuary. In January and February 1588 the Duke had been involved in helping Armada ships to fit out with men, munitions and victuals, while they were sheltering in the Guadalquivir prior to moving round to their eventual rendezvous at Lisbon. He was a conscientious administrator and carried out his responsibilities well.


The designated leader of the Armada was the Marquis of Santa Cruz, an admiral experienced in seafaring and in fighting Drake. The King’s decision to put him in charge was belated enough, and not finally confirmed until 4 September 1587 when Santa Cruz was returning from a voyage to the Indies. In January 1588 he became ill, and it was apparent that he was not going to recover. Even before Santa Cruz died King Philip had decided to put Medina Sidonia in his place. The King’s Secretary, Idiaquez, wrote on 11 February to advise the Duke that ‘His Majesty had fixed his eyes on him to take charge of the expedition’.


Medina Sidonia was panic stricken. On 16 February he replied to Idiaquez pointing out reasons why he was unsuitable for the task. It was a formidable list:




–I have no experience of seafaring or of war


–I have not the health for the sea. I become seasick


–I possess neither the talents nor the strength necessary


–I have no knowledge of the Armada or the persons taking part in it


–I have no intelligence of England or acquaintance with the ports there


–I would have to be guided by the opinions of others of whose qualities I know nothing.





He begged that the King would ‘not entrust to him a task of which he would certainly not give a good account’. He kindly suggested that the ‘Adelantado’ had much better qualifications for the job. Once before he had managed to escape military service. In 1581 he had been made captain-general of Lombardy, but he had pleaded poverty and ill health and was exempted.


His objections were all true, and if the King had had any sense he would have accepted them. The only conceivable reason for Medina Sidonia’s appointment could be one of nobility of rank. If someone says that he does not want the job and could not do it anyway, it is the height of folly to insist on going ahead with the appointment. But King Philip had only a tenuous connection to the real world. He buried himself in his chambers in the Escorial, controlled an empire by voluminous correspondence, and believed that his devotion to God would vindicate all his desires.


His plan of campaign for the Armada was worked out, and was communicated to his officers in the smallest detail. It was completely impractical and impossible to carry out. It involved the Armada positioning off ‘Cape Margate’ (North Foreland). From there it was to protect the barges of the Duke of Parma as they crossed the Channel from Dunkirk with an army on board. Neither the weather nor the English fleet were ever going to allow that to happen. But the plan was capable of being adapted; 30,000 men arriving in Kent might have had a chance. A culture of obedience, however, stifled that kind of initiative.


The King brushed aside Medina Sidonia’s application not to be appointed, and replied to him: ‘… in a case so entirely devoted to God … there is no reason for you to trouble about anything but the preparation of the expedition and I am quite sure you will be diligent in this respect’. Is he really saying that all Medina Sidonia had to do was see to the preparations for the voyage and God would provide the leadership during it?


What else could the poor man do but acquiesce and try to do his best? And to be fair to him, he was always a diligent and conscientious administrator. But what a contrast there appears between those animated English captains and this quiet, dutiful, decent man, without a trace of aggression, charisma or leadership in him.


The Armada, staffed by many experienced admirals and generals, by some quirk of Spanish tradition was commanded by a man, at that time only 37 years old, who by his own admission had no knowledge of the sea or of warfare. Maybe the King wanted a leader who would unquestioningly carry out his neurotically meticulous designs. A previously successful commander in battle, either at sea or on land, might have been tempted to improvise. He had to have a plan, but he would be ready to react to changing circumstances. In fact he should expect changing circumstances and have alternative plans in mind. This situation actually did arise on two occasions during the voyage up the Channel. On Sunday 31 July Juan Martinez de Recalde, vice-admiral of the fleet, wanted to attack Plymouth. Then on 4 August he advised taking the Isle of Wight to provide a secure anchorage for the Armada at Spithead while awaiting news from the Duke of Parma. Both suggestions were ignored by Medina Sidonia as he stuck rigidly to King Philip’s plan. Recalde took umbrage at the way his advice was dismissed and later refused to attend council meetings because ‘his opinions counted for nothing’.


King Philip had designated Diego Flores de Valdés as Medina Sidonia’s adviser. Diego Flores de Valdés was well qualified for the task with long experience of command at sea, most recently with the elite Indian Guard escorting Atlantic treasure fleets. However, he was hindered by an irascible temperament and was not reconciled to what he regarded as babysitting an inexperienced commander-in-chief. His appointment was not a success. Far from supporting Medina Sidonia, he actually undermined him. To be treated with disdain by one of his closest advisers cannot have helped the Duke’s already fragile self-esteem.


This deficiency was to be compensated for by one of the professional soldiers. During the course of the voyage Don Francisco de Bobadilla gradually assumed the position of a kind of Chief Executive Officer to the Duke. He was Colonel-in-chief of the regiments of soldiers and had many years experience. Bobadilla had been on the San Marcos, but at La Coruña he was ordered to come on board the flagship San Martin, and from that time onwards he shadowed Medina Sidonia closely, not only in council, but also in the day-to-day running of affairs. He was able to supply qualities that the Duke himself lacked, particularly the capacity to command. According to one officer, Bobadilla was ‘the man who gave orders in the Armada and everything was managed by him’. In some ways this was a strange appointment. The senior officers had obviously become aware of the Duke’s imperfections as a leader and of Diego Flores de Valdés’s unsuitability as an adviser. It seems that this was their way of sidelining them both to ensure that the business of command could continue efficiently. Correspondence emanated from the council over the Duke’s signature, but it is doubtful if he was responsible for all of it.


All was not well in the Spanish high command.


After the fight in the Channel and the obvious failure of the expedition, the Duke, unable to carry the stress any longer, gave way to depression and withdrew to the seclusion of his cabin. When they arrived back in Santander, the Duke left to Bobadilla the unenviable task of reporting to King Philip. He languished in his bed, ‘unable to attend to anything, truly at my last gasp’, and begged for permission to go home. There is no doubt that by this time the Duke was showing indications of acute depressive illness, not uncommonly experienced by a person overwhelmed by a difficult situation. It is clear that he had been reduced to a state of inertia. He appeared after they had been in port for six days, but only when he and his entourage had dressed in black, a typically obsessive reaction by someone in the depths of a breakdown. Perhaps on Bobadilla’s advice, Medina Sidonia was granted licence by the King to leave the fleet and return home. Would it be too much to hope that the King was man enough to acknowledge that the mistake was his?


The Duke’s heart was among the vineyards, olive groves, Stone Pine woodlands, Cork Oaks and orange trees that dress the landscape in his beloved, sunny Andalucía. Will Wynter was right: he would have given his dukedom, and much more, to be home again. Once there his cure could begin.


He eventually did recover well enough to enjoy twenty-seven more years of quiet life at the family estate in Sanlúcar de Barrameda—an innocent victim of King Philip II’s irrational disregard for the realities of naval warfare.


SOURCES


The great majority of the references in this chapter are from original sources, and the intention is that they will be used whenever possible. Quotations from other writers will be kept to a minimum in order to try to present a fresh analysis of the History of the Armada in Ireland.


We are fortunate that so many original sources have been transcribed and collected by nineteenth-century historians. The English letters were collected and edited by J.K. Laughton and published by the Navy Records Society in 1894 in two volumes under the title ‘State Papers Relating to the Defeat of the Spanish Armada’. References are noted as ‘Laughton’ together with the volume and page number.


Spanish sources originated in the Spanish Archives of Simancas, some of which are now preserved in the Archives Nationales in Paris. They were transcribed and edited by Martin Hume and published by the Public Record Office in 1899 under the title ‘Calendar of Letters and State Papers Relating to English Affairs Preserved in or Originally Belonging to the Archives of Simancas Volume IV Elizabeth 1587–1603’. Although entitled a calendar, most of the letters are transcribed in full. References are noted as ‘Hume’ and the page number.


Most references from Irish sources are from the ‘Calendar of State Papers Ireland—Elizabeth Volume 137’. Irish State Papers are more often summarized in the calendar, but full texts of the original documents are available on microfilm in the Public Record Office in Belfast. References are noted as ‘CSPI’ together with the page number. When full texts are used they are noted as the relative microfilm number and document number.


NOTES AND REFERENCES


The quote from Seymour, Wynter and Palmer is in Laughton VOL. II p. 95.


The sighting of the Armada in the Fair Isle Channel is in Laughton VOL. II p. 137 and Hume p. 434.


Drake’s comments are in Laughton VOL. II p. 98, Fenner’s on p. 40 and Wynter’s on p. 13. Howard’s ‘brag countenance’ comment is in Laughton VOL. II p. 54 and Frobisher’s outburst is on pp 102–103.


The Spanish report of the turning back of the English fleet is in Hume p. 447, and the decisive council meeting is on p. 393.


William Thomas’s report to Burghley on the effectiveness of English gunnery is in Laughton VOL. II pp 258–260.


Medina Sidonia’s deal with the French pilot and the subsequent publication of ‘orders for the future voyage of the Armada’ are part of Calderon’s account in Hume p. 447.


The sailing directions are in CSPI OCT 1 (10) 1588 pp 49–50. The map was first published by W. Spotswood Green in the Geographical Journal, May 1906, VOL. XXVII p. 431. He labelled the map correctly as the ‘Course in the sailing orders given by the Duke of Medina Sidonia’. He did not point out that right from the start it was not the course followed by the Armada; later historians were guilty of presuming that it was. He picked up Aramburu’s San Juan Bautista on 25 August far to the west of Rockall, which was not correct. Medina Sidonia’s letter to the King is in Hume p. 393. Some of the basic details of his biography are from the Internet.


The appointment of Santa Cruz is in Hume p. 136. Santa Cruz’s death and Medina Sidonia’s appointment are in Hume pp 207–209. A brief summary of King Philip’s battle plan is in Hume p. 187.


Recalde’s suggested variations to the plan are in the ‘Diary of a Soldier …’ reproduced by Geoffrey Parker in The Mariner’s Mirror, August 2004, pp 328 and 330.


The emergence of Bobadilla as the Duke’s Executive Officer is in Hume pp 321, 348, 350, 403 and 433. And Diego Flores de Valdés’s failure as an adviser is in Martin and Parker, The Spanish Armada, 1988, p. 24.




Chapter 2  [image: image]


21 AUGUST TO 10 SEPTEMBER


WHERE WERE THEY?


We sailed without knowing whither


(CALDERON)


Marcos de Aramburu was Inspector General and Paymaster of the squadron of Castile. He sailed aboard the galleon San Juan Bautista, vice-flagship of the squadron. From 24 August he assumed responsibility for the command of the ship, presumably because the principal seamen on board were either dead or seriously ill. He was a soldier, not a navigator, but he had pretensions to nobility and that may have been enough to qualify him for command. He carefully compiled a diary of each day’s events, which was so detailed that it could only have been selected from the ship’s log. Perhaps he was preparing for the time when he might have to justify his stewardship.


His entire diary is fascinating, but there are a few entries that provide vital information from which it is possible to make deductions about the course the Armada was following:


On 28 (August) … we took soundings and found ourselves in 120 brazas (108 fathoms) with a gravel bottom


On 30 (August) we took a reading of the sun in latitude 58°N, 95 leagues from the coast of Ireland in 125 brazas (113 fathoms), a rocky bottom without sand or gravel


On 9 September we took the latitude in 54°N 100 leagues from the land of Ireland, running with a moderate southwest wind easing gradually; the course was SE¼S


On 10 September we held the same course with a light wind and did not take a latitude reading


On 11 September we sighted land two hours before dawn. We were on a fresh southwest wind steering southeast, the weather was misty and we did not see it until we were only one league from it … We turned out to sea with a southwest wind and headed west.


The soundings taken on 28 and 30 August tell us a lot. First of all the fact that Aramburu was able to find bottom at around 100 fathoms confirms beyond doubt that the San Juan Bautista was still over the Continental Shelf, which drops away steeply to over 1,000 fathoms around 30 miles west of St Kilda. His estimate of ‘95 leagues from the coast of Ireland’ while at 58°N makes no sense and emphasizes how shaky the Spanish were on the geography of Ireland. Secondly, since no further soundings are mentioned in the diary, we can presume that by 31 August or 1 September they were finding no bottom, and therefore that was when they had crossed the edge of the Continental Shelf. Soundings were sometimes taken as a matter of safety and, although they were by that time on the open ocean, they may have been within sight of some of the Scottish offshore islands, perhaps the Flannen Islands or even Sulisker and Rona. They were probably just north of the St Kilda group.


On 27 August they had been within sight of the rest of the Armada, although they were delayed by a damaged foresail and lost position from then onwards. The main fleet, however, could not have been all that far away to the west. This enables us to estimate the Armada’s position on 31 August to within 50 miles or so of 58½°N and 8°W.


Aramburu’s diary entries for 9, 10 and 11 September are even more revealing. On 9 September at latitude 54°N the pilot’s calculated position was ‘100 leagues from the land of Ireland’. The Spanish league was equivalent to 3.68 miles, so he was saying 368 miles west of County Mayo. On 10 September they were ‘on the same course with a light wind’ and would have made only modest progress. Then on the morning of 11 September, two hours before dawn, they sighted land. The pilot thought it was the islands Bull and Cow; other suggestions were the Isles of Quelmes (the Skelligs) and Dursey Island.


These islands are off County Kerry and County Cork at around 51½°N, which was too far south considering that only 36 hours earlier they had been at 54°N. The Armada ships seemed to average about 60–65 miles a day, and so, given that on 10 September there were only light winds, a better estimate of their position on the morning of 11 might be somewhere off the entrance to Galway Bay, perhaps near the Aran Islands.


They were, nevertheless, in no doubt that the land was Ireland.


It is astonishing that Aramburu allowed to pass without comment the fact that they were some 368 miles east of their calculated position on 9 September. It was of massive significance in relation to the record of navigation in the first part of his diary. All his previous estimates of distance from Ireland were obviously wrong. Why could he not say so?


And it is of cosmic importance for Armada history, because it provides the key to understanding why so many Armada ships came in contact with Ireland.


For the San Juan Bautista there are two locations that can be accepted as reasonably accurate. One is the sighting of islands on the Irish coast on the morning of 11 September at around 53°N. The other, on 31 August, is the sea area at about 58½°N 8°W when the Armada crossed the Continental Shelf. In between we have an almost complete record of the courses that were steered each day. Working backwards from Galway Bay on 11 September and plotting in reverse the courses set and the relative latitude readings for the previous 12 days, it is possible to construct a tentative estimate of the track of the San Juan Bautista from its position on 31 August. The pilot’s estimates of distances from Ireland have to be ignored. Other factors also need to be taken into account. For example it is apparent that for several reasons the ship often failed to make good the courses set, and between 3 and 11 September the ocean current would have caused a slight drift to the east.


This map has been drawn and, although the daily courses are estimated, the positions on 31 August and 11 September are quite conclusive. It gives a general view of the track of the San Juan Bautista. And, because the main fleet was never very far away to the west, it shows roughly where the rest of the Armada was too.


A letter from Medina Sidonia to the King on 23 September after arriving in Spain establishes his position:


I continued on my course to Cape Finisterre with a westerly wind. We ran down to 43½°, and on 21 at two o’clock we sighted land, which was said to be the island of Cizarga seven leagues from La Coruña. The wind then fell calm, and one of the little caravels belonging to the Armada came to us from towards the land and cried out that we were lost as we were off Santander.


He was east of Cape Finisterre by 350 miles and east of Cizarga, his calculated position, by 275 miles. The main body of the Armada missed Ireland, but came too close for comfort.


The explanation for misjudgment on such a scale by all the Armada pilots hinges on a combination of three principal elements—the weather, the limitations of sixteenth-century navigation and the fact that ocean currents could not be determined at that time.


‘CONSTANT STORMS, FOGS AND SQUALLS’


Thanks to the Climatic Research Unit at the University of East Anglia in Norwich we have a fairly coherent account of the weather during the whole of the Armada summer of 1588. This is based partly on weather observations extracted from letters and reports relating to the Armada in both Spanish and English sources. The Danish astronomer Tycho Brahe also kept weather records at his observatory on the island of Hven in Copenhagen Sound, and they were added by the staff at the Unit. These observations were of interest to Professor Hubert Lamb, director of the Climatic Research Unit, because they were the longest continuous record of weather during the onset of the Little Ice Age. He developed the research for publication and it was printed as Climatic Research Paper no.6.


The period from 21 August to 3 September was of crucial importance for the Armada, when it was heading out into the Atlantic and trying to turn towards the southwest. The Armada ships had had a favourable northeast wind in the Fair Isle Channel, and Medina Sidonia’s letter of 21 August was optimistic that they would soon be home. It did not continue, however.


Almost at once the wind swung round to the south and for the next 13 days remained unrelenting at points between southeast and southwest. What happened was that an anticyclone developed over Scandinavia as it often does at that time of year. It was large enough in extent to cover the northwestern approaches of the British Isles for the next five days. It was also strong enough to obstruct the normal southwest to northeast movement of Atlantic depressions, which were consequently deflected northwards. The depressions carried frontal systems over the western edge of the anticyclone. So not only was there a constant push of wind from the south, it was frequently accompanied by gales, rain and fog. One of the Spanish correspondents, Pedro Coco Calderon, wrote:


From 24 (August) to 4 September we sailed without knowing whither, through constant storms, fogs and squalls. As this hulk could not beat to windward it was necessary to keep out to sea, and we were unable to discover the main body of the Armada until 4 September, when we joined it.


The fronts produced no change of wind direction, but the strength of the southerly airstream varied. Just as the speed of a convoy is only as fast as the slowest ship, its track is only as straight as the most cumbersome. There were several Baltic hulks and other cargo vessels in the Armada, and if Medina Sidonia wanted to hold them all together the galleons would have had to ‘keep out to sea’ with the hulks. In other words they would all drift northwards when the wind was strong from the south but come back closer to the wind when it was light—a zigzag course.


On 27 August the wind changed briefly north-northeast, indicating that wave depressions were beginning to break away to the east, as the Scandinavian anticyclone slipped south and west to cover southern England. This was of no assistance to the Armada, because wave depressions soon move away and the main low pressure centres stayed firmly to the west.


By 1 September the anticyclone was beginning to decline and, over the following two days, it moved firstly to the north and then to the east, eventually allowing one of the main low pressure centres to travel northeastwards. On its western side the winds at last came around to west and then to northwest. So on the night of 2 September all the ships were able to sail south for the first time. Aramburu recorded that on 3 and 4 September he sailed courses between southeast and south-southwest. Medina Sidonia wrote to the king on 3 September:


We have had, on four separate nights, heavy gales with strong head winds, thick fogs and rain. This has caused 17 vessels to separate from the Armada. By God’s mercy, yesterday at noon, the wind shifted to the west, somewhat more in our favour. We were therefore able to sail in a southerly direction, and are now in 58 degrees north latitude, having counted 95 sail during the day. The wind has now veered to the west-northwest with a more favourable appearance.


If it took most of a day’s sailing to get them to 58°N, the Armada ships must have been at about 59°N on 2 September. During nearly two weeks they had made no progress southwards; all they were able to do was to keep working their way west, which should at least have given them adequate clearance to avoid Ireland. Everything depended on the accuracy of the calculation of the distances they had travelled. This was one of the pivotal points in deciding the fate of the Armada. The pilots thought they had sailed far enough to the west to begin to steer courses east of south. It would transpire that they had not.


They deserve credit for one achievement: it was a remarkable performance to have kept 95 vessels together after 13 days of appalling conditions.


Southwards at last


From 3 to 6 September the depression moved away northeast and filled, maintaining a west or northwesterly airflow over the Armada. It was close enough to the low pressure to be typically unstable and gave rise to showers and periods of strong winds. Aramburu sailed WSW¼W for a short time on the 5th but the presumption was that he had sufficient sea room to steer generally east of south, which is what he did.


On 7 September a light southwest wind and a gentle sea heralded four days of fine weather. An anticyclone to the east was extending ridges of high pressure over the ships. Aramburu steered SE¼S on 8 and 9, and was still heading southeast in misty conditions on the morning of 11 September when he encountered the islands on the Irish coast and turned out to sea.


The weather was one of the instruments of disaster for the Armada crews. For 13 days, from 21 August to 3 September, they had been imprisoned above 58°N by southerly winds. By the time they were able to turn south they did not know where they were.


THE ART OF NAVIGATION


The Spanish pilots were good. They were formally trained at the Casa de Contratacion in Seville, and they had a textbook, Arte de Navegar by Martin Cortes published in 1551. Navigation was a highly cultivated art in the sixteenth century and, for all normal circumstances, the Spanish pilots had mastered it. The difficulty for the Armada was that, in its voyage round the north of Scotland and into the Atlantic Ocean, the circumstances were not normal. The art of navigation in the sixteenth century had its limitations, and the proposed Armada voyage was exposed to them.


Experience


One of the most important tools of the navigator was experience of the journey they were undertaking. The focus of Spanish pilots was on the regular trading voyages their flotas made to the Americas. These followed a pattern that used the trade winds. To go westwards they first sailed south to about 15°N. Then, with the northeast trade wind to help them, they crossed the Atlantic staying strictly on the same latitude until they sighted land in the Caribbean. The voyage back to Spain used the soutwest trade wind in the same way at about 35°N. The pilots were also familiar with the trading ports of northwest Europe and the Mediterranean. The Atlantic Ocean off north and west Scotland was unknown to them, as they predicted while they were still in the North Sea.


Knowledge of Ireland was a real problem. Only Recalde had genuine experience, from taking part in the Smerwick escapade in 1580. He made use of this in 1588. Some Spanish records exhibit depressing ignorance of Ireland. For example Aramburu’s pilot twice recorded his position as ‘leagues from Ireland’ when he was at 58°N! But then he showed surprising familiarity with the names of Kerry and Cork offshore islands. For the most part the only place on the Irish coast many of them seemed to know about was Cape Clear, and they freely referred to nearly every headland either as Cape Clear or as an estimated distance from it. For practical purposes it is safe to assume that the Spanish on the Armada had no experience of Ireland whatever. Any knowledge they had seemed to be confined to names on maps and charts, and at that time even English maps of the west coast of Ireland were quite useless as an aid to mariners.


Latitude


Astrolabe rings were recovered from some of the Armada wreck sites in Ireland. The sea-astrolabe was used for taking the altitude of the sun at midday, and the angle measured gave the latitude. It was reasonably accurate and most of the latitude readings recorded in surviving documents can be taken as reliable. Caution is needed, however, as the astrolabe was not easy to use on a moving deck. Pilots preferred to go ashore to take the latitude, but naturally that was not possible on the Armada.


Some latitudes quoted in Armada histories are unfortunately wrong. They invariably come from reports originating with ordinary seamen or soldiers rather than navigators. One appears in a transcript of interviews with men from the galleass Zuñiga in which they claim to have been as far north as 63½°N on 8 September. This is clearly wrong. The Zuñiga was in company with the flagship on 2 September at 58°N, after which they were steering southerly courses. Another quote from a prisoner captured at Dingle from Recalde’s ship, San Juan of Portugal, claimed that the whole fleet went as far north as 62°. This looks like a case of believing that the sailing instructions had been followed and that the Armada had been at 61½°N before turning west.


It can be taken as certain that neither the Armada as a fleet nor any of the ships separated from it were ever further north than 60°.


Longitude


In the sixteenth century longitude could not be found at sea. The English navigator William Bourne wrote:


I would not any seaman should be of the opinion that they might get any longitude with instruments—but let them keep a dead reckoning.


Longitude was not, therefore, a factor in the navigation of the Armada, apart from the reality that pilots could not fix their position when out of sight of land. They had to use other methods of navigating.


Dead reckoning and the problem of distance run


‘Let them keep a dead reckoning’ meant that they had to calculate (or guess) the distance travelled each day, and record it on a chart. Dead reckoning was far from being sloppy guesswork. The ingenuity that went into it and the skill applied to allowing for known variables made it into a genuine art, one that is in danger of being lost to ‘progress’ in the form of satellite navigation.


Every half-hour the pilot estimated the way the ship had gone, taking account of her average speed, the compass course steered, the effect of the wind and the leeway characteristics of the ship. This was recorded on a Traverse Board by inserting pegs into holes aligned with the compass course. ‘They keepe an account how many glasses (half-hours) they steer on every point’. After every watch the direction and distance run were transferred to a chart, and the Traverse Board was cleared for use by the next watch. English pilots used log and line to estimate speed; the Spanish pilots did not.


The technique of ‘latitude sailing’ evolved as an attempt to compensate for lack of longitude calculations. The pilots found the known latitude of their destination and then sailed towards it along that latitude as accurately as possible. They took soundings when they were within soundings and kept a careful watch. It became the practice to overestimate slightly the distance run—‘to keep their reckoning before their ship and so to sight land after they sought it’.


From 21 August to 3 September the Armada fleet was effectively latitude sailing, making as much headway westwards as it could. A tendency to overestimate distance run would work against it in this case.


Yet the carefully calculated records of distance run turned out to be wrong by a huge amount—almost half. Something was interfering with the progress of the ships, something they did not know about—ocean currents, the North Atlantic Drift, the Gulf Stream.


THE POWER OF OCEAN CURRENTS


Mariners were conscious of coastal currents and tidal streams close to shore. They kept notebooks of all the information they gathered about the various hazards to be expected in the ports they used.


The existence of an east-flowing Atlantic current had been suspected by Spanish navigators as early as 1512, but all they knew about it was that west to east crossings at around 35°N could be unpredictable. Without the ability to calculate the longitude at sea it would remain impossible to measure ocean currents for another 200 years. In 1588 nobody appreciated that there was a relatively powerful current in the northeast Atlantic.


By the time the waters of the Gulf Stream reach the northeast Atlantic they comprise several complex elements. The contours of the sea floor play an important part in influencing their speed and direction. West of the edge of the Continental Shelf the North Atlantic Drift is moderately strong. It becomes the Continental Slope Current at the edge of the shelf where it is at its strongest, and then weakens as it becomes the Continental Shelf Current closer to land. At its strongest it is about 0.5 knots.


An additional factor is the Surface Layer Current, which is the result of friction caused by the wind. This is reckoned to be 2 per cent of wind speed and can at times amount to very little. For the critical period between 21 August and 3 September, however, the wind experienced by the Armada was constantly strong and always from the south. If the average wind speed was approximately 20 knots the value of the Surface Layer Current could have been as much as 0.4 knots.


Taking both currents into account the Armada was losing almost a knot, which was the equivalent of 20 to 25 miles, a day. The cumulative effect over these 13 days would therefore be around 250 to 300 miles, which corresponds very closely to the discrepancy in the calculations of both Aramburu’s pilot and the pilot on the San Martin.


Understanding the predicament of the Armada when it was out of sight of land is therefore a complex puzzle, in which all the factors played a part. The weather held them north of 58° for 13 days, during which time they could only fetch as far as possible to the west. The limitations of sixteenth-century navigation meant that they were unable to check their positions and so mistakes went undetected. And, unknown to them, they were pushing against a strong ocean current, which nullified part of their apparent progress, again without the opportunity to discover that something was going wrong. What has presented difficulty for historians is the fact that mistakes never seem to be acknowledged in official documents. Surely Aramburu and Medina Sidonia owed their colleagues at least some kind of explanation for the fact that they were 300 miles out of position.


The story is not yet complete, however. Although they did not miss Ireland by much, the main body of the Armada that stayed with Medina Sidonia did get back to Spain. Thirty-eight ships made contact with Ireland, and they can be accounted for only by the fact that they were not with the main fleet. They were stragglers.


THE STRAGGLERS


As the Armada passed through the Fair Isle Channel it numbered approximately 120 vessels. All the ships were well together. During the flight up the North Sea, the Duke had taken special care to put the galleons in the rearguard to protect the weaker ships from the English fleet, and this had the added effect of making sure that none of them dropped out of formation.


Out in the Atlantic, however, the stress of heavy weather soon began to take its toll. Some ships had been so badly damaged in the battles in the English Channel that they could not keep pace with the rest. On the first day of fighting Recalde’s San Juan of Portugal had taken two shots through the foremast. It did not fall but it was unable to carry sails. The strong southerly winds were too much for it, and it dropped away to the northeast. Other battle-damaged ships included La Rata Encoronada of Don Alonso de Leyva, the San Marcos, the Santiago and La Trinidad Valencera. At Gravelines the Duquesa Santa Ana became isolated and was attacked, and the San Juan de Sicilia was ‘so much damaged as to be almost unable to offer further resistance’.


The hulks and Levanters were especially vulnerable. The hulks were high-sided Baltic cargo vessels and were prone to lose position because of leeway. Calderon wrote that his San Salvador ‘cannot sail to windward’. The Levant squadron were built for the Mediterranean trade, not for the seas of the North Atlantic. Their seams split; they took on water and became progressively slower. Battle damage affected them more severely than the galleons.


On 26 August the San Juan Bautista, under the command of Aramburu, had a damaged foresail. The repair delayed them for about six hours during which time the main body of the Armada passed onwards. The ships were still in sight well to windward as darkness fell, but on the next morning they had disappeared. Aramburu never saw the fleet again. But he did fall in with other stragglers, Recalde’s San Juan of Portugal and the ship Trinidad.


The galleasses Girona and Zuñiga had badly designed sterns. Their rudders were exposed and overstressed. In rough weather they constantly broke the rudder thole pin; it could be repaired but it took time and they lost position as a result.


From 21 August a situation gradually emerged in which the main body of the Armada steadily diminished and a string of stragglers fell away for 50 miles or more to the east. Mostly they were in small groups, because if they had company they tried to stay together, but some were alone.


On top of the 300 miles they were already out of position this left the stragglers poised to descend on Ireland. None of them took a conscious decision to head for Ireland; they simply encountered it over a period of four or five days at widely scattered locations.
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